



Héctor J. de Vega ^{1,†} and Norma G. Sanchez ^{2,*}

- ¹ CNRS LPTHE, Sorbonne Université, Université Pierre et Marie Curie UPMC, CEDEX 05, 75005 Paris, France
- ² CNRS LERMA PSL-Observatoire de Paris, Sorbonne Université and The Chalonge–de Vega International School Center, 75014 Paris, France
- * Correspondence: Norma.Sanchez@obspm.fr
- + Passed away https://chalonge-devega.fr/HdeV.html.

Abstract: Ultralight scalars with a typical mass of the order $m \sim 10^{-22}$ eV and light scalars forming a Bose-Einstein condensate (BEC) exhibit a Jeans length in the kpc scale and were therefore proposed as dark matter (DM) candidates. Our treatment here is generic, independent of the particle physics model and applies to all DM BEC, in both in or out of equilibrium situations. Two observed quantities crucially constrain DM in an inescapable way: the average DM density ρ_{DM} and the phase-space density Q. The observed values of ρ_{DM} and Q in galaxies today constrain both the possibility to form a BEC, and the DM mass *m*. These two constraints robustly exclude the axion DM that decouples after inflation. Moreover, the value $m \sim 10^{-22}$ eV can only be obtained with a number of ultrarelativistic degrees of freedom at decoupling in the trillions, which is impossible for decoupling in the radiation dominated era. In addition, we find for the axion vacuum misalignment scenario that axions are produced strongly out of thermal equilibrium and that the axion mass in such a scenario turns to be 17 orders of magnitude too large to reproduce the observed galactic structures. Moreover, we also consider inhomogenous gravitationally bounded BEC's supported by the bosonic quantum pressure independently of any particular particle physics scenario. For a typical size $R \sim \text{kpc}$ and compact object masses $M \sim 10^7 \ M_{\odot}$ they remarkably lead to the same particle mass $m \sim 10^{-22}$ eV as the BEC free-streaming length. However, the phase-space density for the gravitationally bounded BEC's turns out to be more than sixty orders of magnitude smaller than the galaxy-observed values. We conclude that the BEC cannot be the total DM. The axion can be candidates to be only part of the DM of the universe. Besides, an axion in the mili-eV scale may be a relevant source of dark energy through the zero point cosmological quantum fluctuations.

Keywords: dark matter; axions; Bose-Einstein condensate; phase-space density; galaxy structure; galaxy data

Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	The Bose–Einstein Condensate (BEC) as a Dark Matter Candidate	3
3.	The BEC Phase Space Density	5
4.	The BEC Coarse-Grained Phase Density Constraint	6
5.	Decoupling at Thermal Equilibrium	7
6.	Decoupling out of Thermal Equilibrium	8 9



Citation: de Vega, H.J.; Sanchez, N.G. Galaxy Phase-Space Density Data Preclude That Bose–Einstein Condensate Be the Total Dark Matter. *Universe* **2022**, *8*, 419. https:// doi.org/10.3390/universe8080419

Academic Editor: Paolo Spagnolo

Received: 29 May 2022 Accepted: 4 August 2022 Published: 11 August 2022

Publisher's Note: MDPI stays neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.



Copyright: © 2022 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/).

6.2. Implications for the BEC Number of Ultra-Relativistic Degrees of Freedom .	10
7. Gravitationally Bounded Bose–Einstein Condensates of Finite Size	10
8. Thermal and Non-Thermal Axions	11
9. Conclusions	13
References	14

1. Introduction

Deciphering the nature of dark matter (DM) is nowadays one of the most active domains in astrophysics, cosmology and particle physics. Cold dark matter (CDM) particles heavier than a GeV succeed to reproduce the observations for large scales beyond the Mpc. DM particles with mass *m* below the eV (HDM-hot DM) are ruled out because their too large Jeans lengths exclude the formation of the observed galaxies. There is a way out for scalar particles if they form Bose–Einstein condensates (BEC), where the Jeans length can be estimated as [1–5]

$$\lambda_J \sim 4 \ \sqrt{\frac{10^{-22} \text{ eV}}{m}} \ \text{kpc} \simeq 1.2 \times 10^{17} \ \sqrt{\frac{10^{-22} \text{ eV}}{m}} \ \text{km} \ .$$
 (1)

In BEC dark matter, in order to reproduce the observed galactic structures, one should have typically [1–5] :

$$m \sim 10^{-22} \text{ eV}$$
 (2)

In the linear approximation, the mass value is constrained up to 10^{-26} eV approximately; the value 10^{-22} eV arises from a non-perturbative analysis of small scales.

The same requirement but for non-BEC dark matter gives m in the keV scale, that is warm dark matter (WDM) [6–21]. CDM and WDM yield identical results for large scales beyond the Mpc; WDM also provides the correct medium, galactic and small scales in agreement with observations Refs. [6–21] and references therein.

BEC of alkali atoms, BEC of molecules and BEC of magnons have been observed experimentally in the laboratory [22,23].

The galactic phase space density is an important physical quantity and its analysis is crucial to constrain the nature of dark matter from the by now robust observational data for it, as described in Sections 3 and 4 here below and references therein.

In this paper, we study the density in physical space ρ and the density in phase-space Q in order to constrain for the first time with these two observables, the Bose–Einstein condensates (BECs) as dark matter candidates, mainly the mass of generic light scalars forming a DM BEC and other relevant properties of such BECs.

Axion cosmological scenarii and BECs as dark matter have a wide literature from many years, see for example [24–29], and is not our aim here to review all them; this is not a review paper, and our aim here is to provide constraints never considered before for DM BECs. We stress that previous DM BEC literature has not introduced the modern DM galactic phase density and the constraints imposed by the real galaxy data for the DM phase density, and none of previous DM BEC papers relate to the aspects of the BEC DM constraints we are treating for the first time in BEC DM here.

Building particle physics models of axion scenarii, although interesting in its own right, is not the aim of this paper. The DM BEC phase space density constraints and the galaxy data for them are not treated in the previous DM BEC literature.

Moreover, the phase space density and its galactic data to constraint DM is a treatment rather generic and universal, independent of the details of such models. This applies to any kind of DM and is manifest in the astrophysical and dark matter galactic literature.

In this paper, we consider and constraint with galaxy data, in different and consistent ways, different observables and physical magnitudes as:

- the density in real space,
- the phase space density,
- the surface density,
- the free streaming length,
- the number of effective degrees of freedom,
- the mass range of the different Ultralight mass particles in the BECs,
- in different situations, in thermal and out of thermal equilibrium, for homogeneous as well as for gravitational non homogeneous BECs.
- Cross-correlation and self-consistency of the obtained constraints for all of the above relevant physical magnitudes, to make the results of this paper strongly robust and far beyond the literature in the field.

The *two* observables: the average DM density ρ_{DM} and the galactic phase space density Q robustly constrain in an inescapable way both the possibility to form a BEC, e.g., (T_d/T_c) , and the DM particle mass, m, ruling out BEC DM in general, and the BEC axion DM in particular. Moreover, the typical value $m \sim 10^{-22}$ eV can only be obtained with a number of ultrarelativistic degrees of freedom at decoupling in **the trillions**, which is impossible for decoupling in the radiation dominated era. The situation for lighter DM particles is even worse and makes the exclusion result even stronger.

This paper is organized as follows:

In Section 2, we analyze the Bose–Einstein condensate as a dark matter candidate. Our treatment applies to any shape of the distribution function and is valid for any particle physics model. A detailed and updated analysis of the BEC phase space density and BEC coarse-grained phase space density is provided in Sections 3 and 4, both in theory and observations.

Section 3 provides an updated synthesis and clarification on the phase density in DM and a useful state-of-the art. From such analysis, robust DM BECs constraints are derived in Section 4.

DM BEC decoupling at Thermal Equilibrium is treated in Section 5, including its implications for the DM axion. DM BEC in decoupling out of Thermal Equilibrium is treated in Section 6, including its implications for the typical Jeans Lengths and for the BEC number of ultra-relativistic degrees of freedom.

In Section 7, we discuss inhomogeneous, gravitationally bounded BE condensates of finite size. The constraints from the galactic phase space density remarkably provide similar values to the homogeneous BEC constraints found in Sections 4 and 5, and confirm the generic character and robustness of the results.

In Section 8, we analyze DM axions in the canonical axion vacuum misalignment scenario [30–34] and we constraint it with the DM phase space density and galactic data. The exclusion constraints obtained for the axion as a DM candidate confirm the universal constraints obtained in this paper for the DM BECs in general.

Section 9 summarizes our results, conclusions and remarks. We notice that axions with masses in the meV = 10^{-3} eV range can play an important role in astrophysics and cosmology [35–41], not for dark matter but for dark energy as we proposed and studied in Ref. [35], and the misalignment scenario could produce axions with mass in such an meV scale.

2. The Bose–Einstein Condensate (BEC) as a Dark Matter Candidate

- After decoupling, the DM distribution function freezes out and is a function of the covariant momentum *p*. We consider **generic** distribution functions *f_d* out of thermal equilibrium or thermal. The specific form of *f_d* in the non-thermal cases depends on the details of the interactions before decoupling.
- Our treatment applies to **any shape** of f_d and is valid for **any** particle physics model. For convenience and without loss of generality, we choose f_d as a function of (p/T_d) : $f_d (p/T_d)$, where T_d is the covariant decoupling temperature.

In a BEC, a sizeable fraction of the particles is in the zero momentum state, while the rest is on excited states. We call ρ_0 the zero-momentum comoving contribution to the mass density. The contribution from the excited states $\rho - \rho_0$ follows as usual by integrating the distribution function. When the particles became nonrelativistic, we thus have

$$\rho - \rho_0 = m \, \int_0^\infty \frac{p^2 \, dp}{2 \, \pi^2} f_d\left(\frac{p}{T_d}\right) = \frac{m}{2 \, \pi^2} \, T_d^3 \, U \quad , \tag{3}$$

$$U \equiv \int_0^\infty y^2 f_d(y) \, dy \,, \tag{4}$$

where we consider neutral scalars. The case where the particles remain ultra-relativistes (UR) is considered in Equation (29) below.

The BEC density ρ_0 vanishes at the BEC covariant critical temperature T_c . Therefore, the BEC can be present if $T_d < T_c$ and we have from Equation (3) [42],

$$\rho = \frac{m \, U}{2 \, \pi^2} \, T_c^3 \quad , \quad \rho_0 = \frac{m \, U}{2 \, \pi^2} \, \left(T_c^3 - T_d^3 \right) \quad , \quad T_d < T_c \; . \tag{5}$$

[T_c is defined by the above equation even in the out of thermal equilibrium case]. T_d and T_c are related to the respective effective number of UR degrees of freedom g_d and g_c , and to the photon temperature today T_{γ} by entropy conservation [30]:

$$T_c = \left(\frac{2}{g_c}\right)^{1/3} T_{\gamma} , \quad T_d = \left(\frac{2}{g_d}\right)^{1/3} T_{\gamma} , \quad T_{\gamma} = 0.2348 \times 10^{-3} \text{eV} .$$
 (6)

The DM density ρ must reproduce the observed average DM in the universe $\Omega_{DM} \rho_{crit}$. Hence,

$$\rho_{DM} \equiv \Omega_{DM} \rho_{\text{crit}} = \frac{m U}{\pi^2 g_d} \left(\frac{T_c}{T_d}\right)^3 T_{\gamma'}^3$$

$$\rho_{DM} = 0.9259 \times 10^{-23} \text{ keV}^4$$
(7)

Therefore, the DM particle mass *m* can be related to (T_d/T_c) as

$$m = \pi^2 \frac{\rho_{DM} g_d}{T_{\gamma}^3 U} \left(\frac{T_d}{T_c}\right)^3 = 7.059 \text{ eV} \frac{g_d}{U} \left(\frac{T_d}{T_c}\right)^3.$$
(8)

The value of g_d depends on the detailed particle physics of the light scalar particle. For QCD axions decoupling soon after the QCD phase transition, one has $g_d \sim 25$. The covariant critical temperature T_c as well as g_c are parameters that depend on the BEC state.

It must be $g_c < g_d$ (and hence $T_d < T_c$) in order to have a BEC.

The continuous and bounded function $f_d(p/T_d)$ stands for the excited states of the distribution function. The total distribution function can be written as a Dirac delta function representing the zero momentum BEC plus the excited states piece $f_d(p/T_d)$, as follows

$$f_d^{total}(p) = (2 \pi)^3 \frac{\rho_0}{m} \,\delta(\vec{p}) + f_d\left(\frac{p}{T_d}\right) = 2 \,\pi^2 \,\frac{\rho_0}{m} \,\frac{\delta(p^2)}{p^2} + f_d\left(\frac{p}{T_d}\right) \tag{9}$$

The continuum Dirac delta notation is convenient for calculations but in reality the BEC is in a finite comoving volume V_c and the wavenumbers \vec{p} are discretized:

$$ec{p} = rac{2 \ \pi}{V_c^{1/3}} \ ec{n}$$
 , $ec{n} \ \epsilon \ \mathcal{Z}^3$, $\delta(ec{p}) = rac{V_c}{(2 \ \pi)^3} \ \delta_{ec{p}, ec{0}} \, .$

Therefore, $\delta(\vec{0}) = \frac{V_c}{(2 \pi)^3}$ is finite as well as $f_d^{total}(0)$:

$$f_d^{total}(0) = \frac{\rho_0}{m} V_c + f_d(0) \; .$$

The comoving square velocity $\langle v^2 \rangle$ can be then expressed as

$$\langle v^2 \rangle = \frac{\langle p^2 \rangle}{m^2} = \frac{1}{m^2} \frac{\int_0^\infty p^4 f_d(p/T_d) dp/(2\pi^2)}{(\rho_0/m) + \int_0^\infty p^2 f_d(p/T_d) dp/(2\pi^2)}$$
 (10)

$$\langle v^2 \rangle = \frac{T_d^5}{m^2 T_c^3} \frac{V}{U}$$
, $V \equiv \int_0^\infty y^4 f_d(y) \, dy$ (11)

and *U* is given by Equation (4). The BEC does not contribute to the integral in the numerator of $\langle v^2 \rangle$ in Equation (10) because the integral of the Dirac delta function in f_d^{total} Equation (9) vanishes upon integration over \vec{p} due to the extra p^2 factor in the numerator of Equation (10) with respect to the denominator.

As noticed in Ref. [42] the Bose–Einstein distribution, for massless particles is of the order of the comoving volume V_c , as discussed above. The BEC distribution function is well defined. This is also the case for massive particles because the chemical potential at decoupling μ_d must be equal to the particle mass m in order to form a BEC [42]. Even the part of the distribution function that describes the particles outside the condensate is of the order of V_c .

Therefore, the two pieces of the total distribution function: the BEC part and the excited states part $f_d(p/T_d)$ are of the order of the comoving volume V_c , which in this case is very small. This is so because for the QCD phase transition $g_d \sim 25$ and $(z_d + 1) \sim 1.7 \ 10^{12}$, giving for V_c ,

$$V_c = \frac{V_{today}}{(z_d + 1)^3} \sim 2 \times 10^{-37} V_{today}$$
 (12)

Taking for example $V_{today}^{1/3} = 1$ kpc, yields $V_c^{1/3} \sim 18,200$ km.

3. The BEC Phase Space Density

Let us discuss now the phase space density, which is defined by [43]:

$$Q \equiv \frac{\rho}{\langle \sigma^2 \rangle^{3/2}} = \sqrt{27} \frac{\rho}{\langle v^2 \rangle^{3/2}} = \sqrt{27} \frac{m^3 \rho}{\langle \vec{P}_f^2 \rangle^{3/2}} , \qquad (13)$$

where $\sigma^2 = \langle v^2 \rangle / 3$ is the velocity dispersion, and \vec{P}_f is the physical momentum.

Including explicitly the BEC, using Equations (5) and (10), the phase space density Q Equation (13) is given by

$$Q = \sqrt{27} m^{3} \frac{\left[(\rho_{0}/m) + \int_{0}^{\infty} p^{2} f_{d}(p/T_{d}) dp/(2\pi^{2})\right]^{5/2}}{\left[\int_{0}^{\infty} p^{4} f_{d}(p/T_{d})\right) dp/(2\pi^{2})\right]^{3/2}}$$
(14)
$$Q = \frac{3\sqrt{3}}{2\pi^{2}} m^{4} \frac{U^{5/2}}{V^{3/2}} \left(\frac{T_{c}}{T_{d}}\right)^{15/2}$$

- In the absence of self-gravity Q is the Liouville invariant because both ρ and $\langle \vec{P}_f^2 \rangle^{3/2}$ redshift as $(z+1)^3$.
- Because the distribution function is frozen and is a solution of the collisionless Boltzmann (Liouville) equation, it is clear that *Q* is a *constant*, namely a Liouville invariant, in the absence of self-gravity [42].

• The value of *Q* given by Equation (14) is valid after decoupling and before structure formation when *Q* is invariant under the universe expansion.

4. The BEC Coarse-Grained Phase Density Constraint

The expression of Q Equation (13) provides a good approximation to *the coarse-grained phase-space density*. Given the central role played by the phase-space density in the galaxy DM context, we derive here the connection between the coarse-grained phase-space distribution function $F(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{v})$ and $Q(\mathbf{r})$.

The matter density express in terms of $F(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{v})$ as

$$\rho(\mathbf{r}) = \int d^3 v \ F(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{v}) = \langle v^2 \rangle^{3/2} \ \int d^3 w \ F(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{w}) , \qquad (15)$$

where we change the integration variable to $\mathbf{w} \equiv \mathbf{v}/\sqrt{\langle v^2 \rangle}$. We find from Equation (15) the inequality

$$\frac{\rho(\mathbf{r})}{\langle v^2 \rangle^{3/2}} = \int d^3 w \ F(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{w}) \geq \int_{|\mathbf{w}| \leq 1} d^3 w \ F(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{w})$$

where we used the positiveness of the distribution function $F(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{w}) \ge 0$.

Now, we can apply the first mean value theorem [44] to the last integral over **w**,

$$Q(\mathbf{r}) \equiv \frac{\rho(\mathbf{r})}{\langle v^2 \rangle^{3/2}} \geq \int_{|\mathbf{w}| \le 1} d^3 w \ F(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{w}_1) = \frac{4 \ \pi}{3} \ F(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{w}_1) \ , \tag{16}$$

where \mathbf{w}_1 is a point inside the unit sphere.

- We find that Q approximates the coarse-grained phase-space distribution function by excess by a factor of order one. Previous estimations [45] of Q yielded values similar to the rigorous derivation presented here.
- Therefore, Equation (13) provides an appropriate coarse-grained phase-space density of *Q*. The phase-space density expressions Equation (13) are always valid: in the primordial universe where it is constant as well as afterwards in the presence of self-gravity when structure formation occurs.

Tremaine and Gunn [46] argued that the value of the coarse grained phase space density is *always smaller* than, or equal to, the maximum value of the (fine grained) microscopic phase space density, which is the distribution function.

Such argument relies on the theorem that states that the coarse-grained phase space density can only diminish by collision-less phase mixing or violent relaxation by gravitational dynamics [47].

A similar argument was presented by Dalcanton and Hogan [43,48], and confirmed by numerical studies.

In Ref. [6], *Q* was implemented in a model independent manner to evaluate the DM particle mass scale in non-BEC DM.

The phase-space density Q is a *constant* in the absence of self-gravity, and Q can only **decrease** by collision-less phase mixing or self-gravity dynamics [43,46–52]. For these reasons, Q^{-1} behaves as an entropy that can only increase or stay constant during the universe expansion.

Therefore, necessarily:

$$Q_{\text{today}} \le Q$$
, where $Q_{\text{today}} \equiv \frac{Q}{Z}$ (17)

 $Z \ge 1$ being a numerical constant, namely *the decreasing factor* Z introduced in Ref. [6]. The value of Q_{today} can be computed with galaxy data today for ρ and $\langle \sigma^2 \rangle$, namely

$$Q_{\text{today}} = \frac{\rho_{\text{today}}}{\langle \sigma_{\text{today}}^2 \rangle^{3/2}}$$
(18)

Normally, ρ and σ^2 are averaged over the galaxy core.

 Q_{today} has been well measured by different galaxy observations and it is galaxy dependent. Q_{today} is the largest for ultracompact dwarf galaxies and the smallest for large and dilute spiral galaxies [53–62]. From the compilation of different and well established sets of galaxy data, e.g., in Table 1 of Ref. [15] we have

$$5 \times 10^{-6} < \left(\frac{Q_{\text{today}}}{\text{keV}^4}\right)^{2/3} < 1.4$$
 (19)

Now, from Equations (8) and (14), we express *m* and (T_d/T_c) in terms of *Q*, *U* and *V* with the result:

$$m = \frac{2^{2/3}}{3 \pi^2} V Q^{2/3} \frac{T_{\gamma}^5}{(\rho_{DM} g_d)^{5/3}} = 44.62 \text{ keV} \left(\frac{Q}{\text{keV}^4}\right)^{2/3} \left(\frac{25}{g_d}\right)^{5/3} V,$$

$$\left(\frac{T_d}{T_c}\right)^3 = \frac{2^{2/3}}{3 \pi^4} UV \frac{T_{\gamma}^8}{(\rho_{DM} g_d)^{8/3}} Q^{2/3} = 248.43 \left(\frac{Q}{\text{keV}^4}\right)^{2/3} UV \left(\frac{25}{g_d}\right)^{8/3}.$$
(20)

 $g_d \sim 25$ corresponds to DM decoupling just after the QCD phase transition as it is the case for axions.

5. Decoupling at Thermal Equilibrium

For decoupling at thermal equilibrium (TE), from Equations (3) and (10), we have

$$U^{TE} = 2\zeta(3) = 2.404114, \quad V^{TE} = 24\zeta(5) = 24.88627$$

From these values, Equation (20) yields

$$\frac{T_d}{T_c} = 24.58709 \left(\frac{Q}{\text{keV}^4}\right)^{2/9} \left(\frac{25}{g_d}\right)^{8/9},$$

$$m = 1.110 \text{ MeV} \left(\frac{Q}{\text{keV}^4}\right)^{2/3} \left(\frac{25}{g_d}\right)^{5/3} : \text{ TE}.$$
(21)

Therefore, from Equations (21) and (19) the condition $Q \ge Q_{today}$ implies

$$\frac{T_d}{T_c} \ge 27.5 \left(\frac{25}{g_d}\right)^{8/9}, \quad m \ge 1.55 \text{ MeV} \left(\frac{25}{g_d}\right)^{5/3} : \text{TE}.$$
 (22)

We see that for $g_d \sim 25$, is always $T_d > T_c$ and hence **no BEC forms for TE decoupling**. In order to form a BEC, it is necessary that the decoupling temperature T_d be below the critical temperature T_c . The condition

$$T_d \leq T_c$$

yields from Equation (22)

$$g_d \ge 1040$$
 : BEC, TE. (23)

 This requires particle models possessing a huge number of particle states and where DM decouples presumably in the Grand Unification scale (GUT), where the number of ultrarelativistic degrees of freedom is in the hundreds (well above the electroweak scale).

• Recall that at the TeV scale in the standard model of particle physics, $g_d \sim 100$ [30]. In addition, for $g_d = 1040$ Equation (22) yields

$$m > 3.10 \text{ keV}$$
 , $g_d = 1040$: BEC, TE. (24)

This particle mass value is much larger than the DM particle mass appropriate for BEC DM Equation (2) $m \sim 10^{-22}$ eV. **This is a huge difference** of the orders of magnitude.

Implications for the Axions

• **QCD axions** can decouple well before the QCD phase transition, at temperatures $T_d \sim 10^{11}$ GeV.

For $T_d \sim 10^{11}$ GeV we can have g_d in the hundreds and from Equation (22) the axion mass *m* turns to be **in the keV scale**, a huge difference of orders of magnitude above the mass range values for the axion mass given by the present experimental limits [2]:

$$6 \times 10^{-6} \text{ eV} < m_a < 2 \times 10^{-3} \text{ eV},$$

and even more, a huge difference with respect to the typically ultra-light BEC mass value Equation (2) $m \sim 10^{-22}$ eV.

Besides, it must be noticed that an isolated system which is not integrable and can thermalize because is an ergodic system both classically and quantum mechanically [63]. Namely, the particle trajectories explore ergodically the constant energy manifold in phase-space, covering it uniformly according to precisely the microcanonical measure and yielding to a thermal situation [63]. This is the case for **axions** and more generally for **QCD systems**. Moreover, it is generally the case of self-gravitating DM particles in galaxies [16–18,64,65].

In order to determine how the thermalization happens, as well as the thermalization time scale and further physical features, specific calculations must be performed in the corresponding model, see Refs. [2,66–70]. The methods used in these calculations are appropriately chosen for the system considered: Boltzmann equations, classical evolution equations, Schwinger–Keldysh approach for quantum fields, expansions in 1/N in field theory and other methods.

6. Decoupling out of Thermal Equilibrium

For **decoupling out of TE** we recall that typically, thermalization is reached by the mixing of the particle modes and the scattering between particles, which redistribute the particles in the phase space as following:

The higher momentum modes are populated by a *cascade*, whose wave front moves towards the ultraviolet region akin to a direct cascade in turbulence, leaving in its wake a state of nearly local TE but with a temperature lower than that of equilibrium [66,71].

Hence, when the dark matter particles at decoupling are not at thermodynamical equilibrium, their momentum distribution is expected to be peaked at smaller momenta than in the TE case because the ultraviolet cascade is not yet completed [66,71]. Therefore, the distribution function at decoupling out of TE can be written as

$$f_d^{out \ TE}(p) = \frac{f_0}{e^{\frac{p}{\xi \ T_d}} - 1} \ \theta(p^0 - p) \ , \tag{25}$$

where $\xi = 1$ at TE and $\xi \leq 1$ before the thermodynamical equilibrium is attained; $f_0 \sim 1$ is a normalization factor and p^0 cuts the spectrum in the ultraviolet region not yet reached by the cascade.

• The above features and the distribution function out of TE Equation (25) are generic and universal, the result is unique irrespective of the different ways the massive

bosons forming a BEC can be out of TE, because the formation of a BEC is a unique process requiring one universal condition $T_d \leq T_c$.

Equation (25) describes out of equilibrium massive scalar particles [66,71]. Out of equilibrium massless scalar particles were studied in Refs. [67–69,72].

The distribution function Equation (25) yields for *U* and *V* through Equations (3) and (10):

$$\begin{aligned} U^{out \ TE} &= f_0 \ \xi^3 \ U(s) \ , \quad V^{out \ TE} = f_0 \ \xi^5 \ V(s) \ , \quad s \equiv \frac{p^0}{\xi \ T_d} \ , \\ U(s) &\equiv \int_0^s \frac{y^2 \ dy}{e^y - 1} \quad , \quad V(s) \equiv \int_0^s \frac{y^4 \ dy}{e^y - 1} \ . \end{aligned}$$

Then, from Equation (20), the condition $Q \ge Q_{\text{today}}$ implies for **decoupling out of TE**:

$$m \geq 44.62 \text{ keV} \left(\frac{Q_{\text{today}}}{\text{keV}^4}\right)^{2/3} \left(\frac{25}{g_d}\right)^{5/3} V^{out \ TE}$$
(26)

$$m \geq 1.110 \text{ MeV} \left(\frac{Q_{\text{today}}}{\text{keV}^4}\right)^{2/3} \left(\frac{25}{g_d}\right)^{5/3} f_0 \,\xi^5 \,\frac{V(s)}{V(\infty)} ,$$

$$\left(\frac{T_d}{T_c}\right)^3 \geq 1.48635 \,\times 10^4 \,\left(\frac{Q_{\text{today}}}{\text{keV}^4}\right)^{2/3} f_0^2 \,\xi^8 \,\frac{U(s) \,V(s)}{U(\infty) \,V(\infty)} : \quad \text{out of TE} . \tag{27}$$

Typically, out of TE we have

$$s = \mathcal{O}(1)$$
, $f_0 = \mathcal{O}(1)$, $U(1)/U(\infty) = 0.147$
 $V(1)/V(\infty) = 0.00658$

From the bound Equation (26), the limiting condition $T_d \sim T_c$ for the presence of a BEC is satisfied for $s \sim 1$, $\xi \sim 0.7$, $f_0 \sim 1$. As a consequence, in the BEC limiting case of **decoupling out of TE**, we find:

$$T_d \sim T_c$$
, $f_0 \xi^5 \frac{V(s)}{V(\infty)} \sim 10^{-3}$, $m \ge 14 \text{ eV} \left(\frac{25}{g_d}\right)^{\frac{5}{3}}$: BEC out of TE. (28)

We conclude that:

- BEC DM decoupling at thermal equilibrium requires a particle model with a huge number g_d ≥ 1040 of particle states ultrarelativistic at DM decoupling [Equation (23)]. For g_d = 1040 the particle mass must be m > 3 keV [Equation (24)], that is, twenty-five orders of magnitude larger than the appropriate BEC mass value Equation (2).
- BEC DM decoupling out of thermal equilibrium requires for $g_d \sim 25$ a particle mass m of at least 0.03 eV [Equation (28)]. For $T_d \sim 10^{11}$ GeV, g_d is in the hundreds and we obtain from Equation (28) m at least **twenty orders of magnitude larger** than the appropriate BEC mass value Equation (2).

6.1. Implications for the BEC Jeans Lengths

From Equation (1) the Jeans lengths corresponding to the above cases Equations (24) and (28) are:

$$\lambda_I({
m keV}) = 3.8 imes 10^4 \ {
m km} \quad {
m for TE}$$
 ,

$$\lambda_J(10 \text{ eV}) = 6.9 imes 10^6 \text{ km} \quad \text{for out of TE} \ .$$

- These BEC Jeans length values are unrealistically small by eleven to thirteen orders of magnitude [see Equation (1)] in order to form the observed galaxy structures. Namely, DM structures of all sizes above these minuscule Jeans lengths will be formed in contradiction with astronomical observations. These Jeans length values are even worse than the cold DM Jeans length which is ~3 × 10¹² km.
- Therefore, the BEC particle masses compatible with the DM average density and the DM galaxy phase-space density constraints, namely:

m > 3 keV (in TE) and m > 0.03 eV (out of TE),

have exceedingly small Jeans lengths, results which strongly disfavour BEC DM.

6.2. Implications for the BEC Number of Ultra-Relativistic Degrees of Freedom

It is interesting to see which value of g_d corresponds to the particle mass value $m \sim 10^{-22}$ eV appropriate for galaxy structure formation. We find from Equations (2), (22) and (28) that g_d must take the values

$$g_d \sim 2 \times 10^{11}$$
 TE ; $g_d \sim 2 \times 10^{14}$ out of TE.

• These gigantic values of g_d are totally impossible for decoupling in the radiation dominated era. Namely, these values of degrees of freedom are absolutely unrealistic for whatever particle physical model one considers. Hence, there is no way to realize a tiny DM mass $m \sim 10^{-22}$ eV.

In the case DM stays ultra-relativistic until today, Equation (5) for the DM density becomes

$$\rho = \frac{T_c^4}{2 \pi^2} W \quad , \quad W \equiv \int_0^\infty y^3 f_d(y) \, dy \tag{29}$$

This equation is valid both in the BEC case and in the absence of a BEC. For out of thermal equilibrium decoupling we have from Equation (25) that

 $W^{out TE} < W^{TE} = \pi^4/15$

We thus obtain from Equations (6) and (29),

$$g_d^{TE} = 0.4443 > g_d^{out TE}$$
(30)

- Equation (30) cannot be satisfied because it must always be g_d ≥ 2 due to the existence of the photon. Therefore, scalar particles, which are ultra-relativistic today cannot describe the DM.
- The treatment we presented here is independent of the particle physics model describing the DM particle and applies to all DM BEC. All the results found here only follow from the gravitational interaction of the particles, their bosonic nature and the robust DM observational constraints from the average DM density *ρ*_{DM} and the DM phase-space density *Q*.

7. Gravitationally Bounded Bose–Einstein Condensates of Finite Size

So far, we have here considered homogeneous Bose–Einstein condensate (BEC) i.e., a BEC in all the space. Gravitationally bounded BEC's with a finite size *R* can also exist. That is to say, a two phase situation in which the BEC is inside the radius *R* and the normal phase is outside. This gravitationally bounded BEC can be considered as the final stationary state, dynamically produced by a gravitational BEC phase transition.

The results provided by this gravitational BEC study are robust irrespective of any particular particle physics model. A gravitationally bounded object formed by a BEC can be obtained by equating the bosonic quantum pressure and the gravitational pressure.

The BEC quantum pressure is the flux of the quantum momentum, $P_Q = n v p$, p being the minimum momentum from the Heinsenberg principle $p \sim \hbar/R$ and $n = \rho/m$ is the number density of particles. Therefore,

$$P_{Q} = \rho \left(\frac{\hbar}{R m}\right)^{2} = \frac{3}{4 \pi} \frac{\hbar^{2} M}{R^{5} m^{2}} , \qquad (31)$$

where $\rho = (3 M) / (4 \pi R^3)$ and *M* is the mass of the BEC.

For an object of radius *R* and mass *M* the gravitational pressure is

$$P_G = \frac{G \ M^2}{4 \ \pi \ R^4} \ . \tag{32}$$

Thus, $P_Q = P_G$ implies for the BEC size *R*,

$$R = \frac{3}{G M} \left(\frac{\hbar}{m}\right)^2 = 2.861 \times 10^{-36} \frac{M_{\odot}}{M} \left(\frac{\text{eV}}{m}\right)^2 \hbar \text{ kpc}.$$
 (33)

The DM particle mass becomes from Equation (33)

$$m = 5.349 \times 10^{-22} \text{ eV } \sqrt{\frac{10^7 M_{\odot}}{M} \frac{\text{kpc}}{R}}$$
 (34)

That is, for a typical compact BEC object of kpc size and mass $M \sim 10^7 M_{\odot}$ we obtain the BEC DM particle mass in agreement with Equation (2). This remarkable result shows the consistency of the self-gravitating BEC quantum estimate Equations (31)–(33) with the BEC free-streaming length Equation (2).

The phase space density $Q = \rho/\sigma^3$ can be estimated following similar lines as above, namely

$$Q = \sqrt{27} \rho \left(\frac{m R}{\hbar}\right)^3 = \frac{\sqrt{27}}{4 \pi} \left(\frac{m}{\hbar}\right)^3 M , \qquad (35)$$

with the result

$$\frac{Q}{\text{keV}^4} = 0.461 \times 10^{-68} \left(\frac{m}{10^{-22} \text{ eV}}\right)^3 \left(\frac{M}{10^7 M_{\odot}}\right).$$
(36)

- BEC objects would correspond to compact halos, i.e., typically *M* about $10^7 M_{\odot}$, thus, $Q \sim 10^{-68}$ for the typical $m \sim 10^{-22}$ eV. That is, *Q* turns out **more than sixty orders of magnitude smaller** than the observed values Equation (19).
- Although $m \sim 10^{-22}$ eV provides reasonable BEC free-streaming lengths [Equation (2)], the corresponding BEC phase-space density turns to be **ridiculously small**.

Notice that the value Equation (35) is a **maximal** value for *Q* as evaluated from the minimum saturated quantum value of the momentum using the Heisenberg principle. That is to say, Equation (36) is a *robust* result. In conclusion, a gravitationnally bounded BEC **cannot be the DM**.

8. Thermal and Non-Thermal Axions

The main DM candidate for a scalar particle forming a BEC condensate is the axion [31,73–76]. For a report on axionic DM and axion-like particles ('ALPs'), see for example [77].

In the usual scenario of DM axions, axions decouple soon after the QCD phase transition ($g_d \sim 25$) and then they are assumed (i) to become nonrelativistic, (ii) to thermalize and (iii) to form a BEC [2]. (Ref. [70] recently criticized this scenario). Hence, the bound Equation (22) clearly shows that **no DM axion-like BEC can be formed**. For non-thermal axions, the canonical scenario is the axion vacuum misalignment scenario [30,31,34,76–78]; see also Refs [79–83] for more recent discussions. In this scenario, the axion field, denote it $\bar{\theta}$, is not initially at the minimum of its potential and is thus "misaligned" with it. When the axion mass is around a temperature of $T \sim \Lambda_{QCD}$, the axion field will roll toward the minimum, overpass it and thereafter oscillate; these are like coherent oscillations.

The axion potential is negligibly small at Temperatures $T >> T_{QCD}$, the effective potential vanishing at a high temperature. As *T* decreases, the field starts to roll down from its initial value towards its zero value at the minimum of the potential ($\bar{\theta} = 0$) and the axion mass starts to be generated. The temperature dependence of the axion mass follows the relation

$$m(T) \simeq 0.1 \ m \ (T=0) \left(\frac{\Lambda_{QCD}}{T} \right)^{3.7}$$
(37)

The characteristic axion momentum at birth is $m(T_1)$. T_1 is the temperature when oscillations begin, defined as $m(T_1) = 3H(T_1)$. For an axion of mass $m \sim 10^{-5}$ eV, T_1 is about 1 GeV, and in general T_1 scales as $m^{+0.18}$. The initial axion number density is given by

$$n(T_1) \simeq \rho(T_1)/m(T_1) \simeq m(T_1) \bar{\theta}_1^2 (f/N)^2/2$$
 (38)

Without significant entropy production since the starting of axion oscillations, the axion's contribution to the energy density today can be derived from the ratio (n/s) of the initial axion number density to entropy density *s* multiplied by the entropy density today s_0 times the axion mass *m*. (If significant entropy is produced, the increasing entropy factor in a comoving volume will reduce the present axion mean density by the same factor). Taking into account anharmonic oscillation effects in the axion motion, the average axion's contribution to the energy density today is given by

$$\rho_{DM} = \rho_{crit} \ 0.13 \times 10^{\pm 0.4} \ \Lambda_{200}^{-0.7} \ F(\bar{\theta}_1) \ \bar{\theta}_1^2 \ \left(\frac{m}{10^{-5} \ \text{eV}}\right)^{-1.18}$$
(39)

where $\Lambda_{200} \equiv \Lambda_{QCD}/200$ MeV, $\bar{\theta}_1$ is the value of the axion phase field when axion oscillations begin. Its canonical value is $\bar{\theta}_1 = \pi/\sqrt{3}$. $F(\bar{\theta}_1)$ accounts for anharmonic effects, being $F(\pi/\sqrt{3}) \simeq 1.3$.

 $\Omega_{DM} = 0.22$ in Equation (39) yields for the axion mass:

$$m = 3.77 \times 10^{-5} J^{-0.85} \,\mathrm{eV}$$
 , $J \equiv \frac{3 \ \bar{\theta}_1^2 \ 10^{\pm 0.4} \ F(\bar{\theta}_1)}{\pi^2 \ \Lambda_{200}^{-0.7} \ 1.3} \sim 1$. (40)

Axions are produced as semi-relativistic particles at a temperature much larger than their mass. Axion production from the misalignement scenario is highly non-thermal and forms a zero-momentum population; the phase occupancy is given by:

$$f(p=0) \simeq \frac{m (T_1) (f/N)^2}{p_1^3} \sim 10^{50} \left(\frac{m}{eV}\right)^{-2.7}$$
(41)

These axion field oscillations truly correspond to a Bose condensate and are like coherent oscillations.

Likewise, we can estimate the typical axion velocity today

$$v/c \sim \left(\frac{p}{m}\right)_{today} \sim \frac{p_1 \left(3K/T_1\right)}{m} \sim 10^{-22} \left(\frac{m}{eV}\right)^{-0.82}$$
 (42)

Moreover, we can also estimate the phase-space density Q using the DM density Equation (39) and the axion velocity Equation (42) with the result

$$Q = \rho_{crit} \ 2.86 \times 10^{\pm 0.4} \ 10^{66} \ \Lambda_{200}^{-0.7} \ \left(\ \frac{m}{\text{eV}} \right)^{1.28}, \tag{43}$$

which yields:

$$\left(\frac{Q}{\text{keV}^4}\right) = 3.21 \times 10^{49.4} \ 10^{\pm 0.8} \left(\frac{m}{\text{eV}}\right)^{1.28}$$
 (44)

$$m = 4.8 \times 10^{-39} \text{ eV} \ 10^{\pm 0.6} \left(\frac{\text{Q}}{\text{keV}^4}\right)^{0.78}$$
 (45)

From the well-established different sets of galaxy observations [53–62] and their compilation [15] Equation (19), $Q_{\text{today}} \leq Q$ is in the range:

$$1.12 \times 10^{-8} < \left(\frac{Q_{\text{today}}}{\text{keV}^4}\right) < 1.65$$
, (46)

which implies the axion mass values:

$$m = 5 \times 10^{-45} \,\mathrm{eV} - 7 \times 10^{-39} \,\mathrm{eV} \tag{47}$$

We see from Equations (40) and (47) that the axion mass in the misalignement scenario is hugely larger than the required values to satisfy the galaxy phase density data.

In addition, in order to reproduce the observed galaxy structures, from the non-linear regime computations, e.g., [1,2], Equation (2), the axion mass needs to have typically the order of magnitude $m \sim 10^{-22}$ eV. We see from Equations (2) and (40) that the axion mass in the vacuum misalignment scenario is **17 orders of magnitude too large** to reproduce the observed galactic structures.

In summary, the axion in the misalignment scenario cannot be the total dark matter, two robust constraints point to the same conclusion: On the one hand, the axion mass is too large by huge orders of magnitude to satisfy the observed phase space density galaxy data, and on the other hand the axion mass is too large too (by 17 orders of magnitude) to describe the observed galaxy structures.

We considered in this section the axion in the canonical misalignment scenario. More recent models can be considered by taking into account various effects, such as: (i) symmetry breaking with parametric resonance [79,80], (ii) anharmonicity effects for an initial value $\bar{\theta}_i$ approaching π because of fine tuning or special inflationary dynamics [81,82], (iii) a "kinetic misalignment" mechanism [83], in which the axion initial kinetic energy can be larger than the potential energy, thus delaying the onset of axion field oscillations. However, the fundamental picture of axions in the basic misalignment scenario as a coherent zero-momentum condensate of coherent oscillations does not change in all these models (i), (ii), (iii) nor the main range of their velocity, and all these models produce axion masses in the range (0.1–100) ×10⁻³ eV. These variations do not change at all the robust axion results found here, as these results do not depend on the details of the particle models, and the exclusion constraints on the axion masses are on huge orders of magnitude.

9. Conclusions

Present experimental limits leave as available a window for the axion mass [2]

$$6 \times 10^{-6} \,\mathrm{eV} < m_a < 2 \times 10^{-3} \,\mathrm{eV}$$
 (48)

- The window Equation (48) **disagrees** by many orders of magnitude both with the galaxy phase-space density constraint Equation (22) and with the required value $m \sim 10^{-22}$ galaxy structure constraint in order for the axion to be DM.
- The existence of the axion particle is well motivated from QCD [31,73]. However, as we have observed, the axion cannot be the DM particle. The two observables: the average DM density ρ_{DM} in real space and the phase space density Q robustly constrain in an inescapable way both the possibility to form a BEC, e.g., (T_d/T_c) , and the DM particle mass *m* ruling out BEC DM in general, and the BEC axion DM in particular.

- Moreover, the value $m \sim 10^{-22}$ eV can only be obtained with a number of ultrarelativistic degrees of freedom at decoupling in the trillions, which is impossible for decoupling in the radiation-dominated era.
- In addition, we have also considered inhomogenous gravitationally bounded BECs supported by the bosonic quantum pressure independently of any particular particle physics scenario. For a typical size $R \sim \text{kpc}$ and compact object masses $M \sim 10^7 M_{\odot}$; they remarkably lead to the same particle mass $m \sim 10^{-22}$ eV as the BEC free-streaming length. However, the **phase-space density** for the gravitationally bounded BECs turns out to be **more than sixty orders of magnitude smaller** than the galaxy observed values.
- We have provided here a generic treatment, independent of the particle physics model and which applies to all DM BEC, in both: in or out of equilibrium situations. We conclude that the BEC cannot be the total DM. The axion can be a candidate to only part of the DM of the universe.
- In all the DM BEC discussion here, it is assumed that axions represent the whole DM in the universe, as is usually the case to investigate the feasibility of a DM candidate. In mixed scenarios where particles other than axions could form a large part of the DM, one could have an axion DM BEC constituing a part of the universe DM.
- In supersymmetric models, the supersymmetric partner of the axion is a fermion called axino, degenerate in mass with the axion. An **axino** with mass **in the keV scale** would be a good warm dark matter (WDM) candidate. Actually, an axion (and hence an axino) with particle mass in the keV scale naturally appeared for a decoupling temperature $T_d \sim 10^{11}$ GeV, [see Equations (22)–(24)].
- We would like to stress that although not being the DM, the axion may play a crucial role in cosmology. The observed dark energy density ρ_Λ = (2.35 meV)⁴ indicates an energy scale in the meV = 10⁻³ eV. This energy value is in the allowed window of the axion masses. Therefore, the axion may be the source of the dark energy through the zero point cosmological quantum fluctuations as we derived in Ref. [35]. In addition, white dwarf stars observations would suggest axions in the range of 2–8 meV [36–39].
- Overall, a robust conclusion of this paper is that the BEC in general, and the BEC axion in particular, cannot be the total dark matter of the Universe. However, they can play an important role in astrophysics and cosmology. We see indications for an axion mass in the meV range from dwarf stars observations, e.g., [36–39], and mainly from the dark energy scale as we studied in Ref. [35]. In addition, the misalignment scenario [30–34] may be able to produce axions with mass in the meV range.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, H.J.d.V. and N.G.S. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Data Availability Statement: All data are provided in the paper and in the References cited in the paper.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Hu, W.; Barkana, R.; Gruzinov, A. Fuzzy Cold Dark Matter: The Wave Properties of Ultralight Particles. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2000, 85, 1158. [CrossRef]
- 2. Sikivie, P.; Yang, Q. Bose-Einstein Condensation of Dark Matter Axions. Phys. Rev. Lett. 2009, 103, 111301. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 3. Erken, O.; Sikivie, P.; Tam, H.; Yang, Q. Cosmic axion thermalization. Phys. Rev. D 2012, 85, 063520. [CrossRef]
- 4. Sikivie, P. An argument that the dark matter is axions. *arXiv* **2012**, arXiv:1210.0040.
- Crisosto, N.; Sikivie, P.; Sullivan, N.S.; Tanner, D.B.; Yang, J.; Rybka, G. ADMX SLIC: Results from a Superconducting LC Circuit Investigating Cold Axions. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2020, 124, 241101. [CrossRef]
- de Vega, H.J.; Sanchez, N.G. The mass of the dark matter particle: Theory and galaxy observations. *Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.* 2010, 404, 885. [CrossRef]
- 7. Destri, C.; de Vega, H.J.; Sanchez, N.G. Warm dark matter primordial spectra and the onset of structure formation at redshift z. *Phys. Rev. D* 2013, *88*, 083512. [CrossRef]

- 8. Biermann, P.L.; de Vega, H.J.; Sanchez, N.G. Highlights and Conclusions of the Chalonge Meudon Workshop. *arXiv* 2012, arXiv:1305.7452.
- 9. de Vega, H.J.; Falvella, M.C.; Sanchez, N.G. Highlights and Conclusions of the Chalonge 16th Paris Cosmology Colloquium 2012. *arXiv* 2012, arXiv:1307.1847.
- 10. de Vega, H.J.; Sanchez, N.G. Cosmological evolution of warm dark matter fluctuations I: Efficient computational framework with Volterra integral equations. *Phys. Rev. D* 2012, *85*, 043516. [CrossRef]
- 11. de Vega, H.J.; Sanchez, N.G. Cosmological evolution of warm dark matter fluctuations. II. Solution from small to large scales and keV sterile neutrinos. *Phys. Rev. D* 2012, *85*, 043517. [CrossRef]
- 12. de Vega, H.J.; Moreno, O.; Guerra, E.M.; Medrano, M.R.; Sanchez, N.G. Role of sterile neutrino warm dark matter in rhenium and tritium beta decays. *Nucl. Phys. B* 2013, *866*, 177. [CrossRef]
- 13. Lello, L.; Boyanovsky, D. Cosmological implications of light sterile neutrinos produced after the QCD phase transition. *Phys. Rev.D* 2015, *91*, 063502. [CrossRef]
- 14. Destri, C.; de Vega, H.J.; Sanchez, N.G. Fermionic warm dark matter produces galaxy cores in the observed scales because of quantum mechanics. *New Astron.* 2013, 22, 39. [CrossRef]
- 15. Destri, C.; de Vega, H.J.; Sanchez, N.G. Quantum WDM fermions and gravitation determine the observed galaxy structures. *Astrop. Phys.* **2013**, *46*, 14. [CrossRef]
- 16. de Vega, H.J.; Salucci, P.; Sanchez, N.G. Observational rotation curves and density profiles versus the Thomas–Fermi galaxy structure theory. *Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.* 2014, 442, 2717. [CrossRef]
- de Vega, H.J.; Sanchez, N.G. Equation of state, universal profiles, scaling and macroscopic quantum effects in Warm Dark Matter galaxies. *Eur. Phys. J. C* 2017, 77, 81. [CrossRef]
- 18. de Vega, H.J.; Sanchez, N.G. The Dark Matter distribution function and Halo Thermalization from the Eddington equation in Galaxies. *Int. J. Mod. Phys. A* **2016**, *31*, 1650073. [CrossRef]
- Menci, N.; Sanchez, N.G.; Castellano, M.; Grazian, A. Constraining the Warm Dark Matter Particle Mass through Ultra-Deep UV Luminosity Functions at z=2. *ApJ* 2016, *818*, 90 [CrossRef]
- 20. Adhikari, R.; Agostini, M.; Ky, N.A.; Araki, T.; Archidiacono, M.; Bahr, M.; Baur, J.; Behrens, J.; Bezrukov, F.; Dev, P.B.; et al. A White Paper on keV Sterile Neutrino Dark Matter. *JCAP* 2017, *1*, 025. [CrossRef]
- 21. Universe, Special Issue keV Warm Dark Matter in Agreement with Observations in Tribute to Hector de Vega, 2021 and the Papers Therein, 2021, 7 and 2022, 8. Available online: https://www.mdpi.com/journal/universe/special_issues/kWDM (accessed on 28 May 2022).
- 22. Leggett, A.J. Bose-Einstein condensation in the alkali gases: Some fundamental concepts. Rev. Mod. Phys. 2001, 73, 307. [CrossRef]
- Stellmer, S.; Pasquiou, B.; Grimm, R.; Schreck, F. Laser Cooling to Quantum Degeneracy. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2013, 110, 263003. [CrossRef]
- 24. Kim, J.E.; Carosi, G. Axions and the strong CP problem. *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 2010, 82, 557–602; Erratum in *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 2019, 91, 049902. [CrossRef]
- 25. Marsh, D.J.E. Axion Cosmology. Phys. Rep. 2016, 643, 1–79. [CrossRef]
- 26. Ballesteros, G.; Redondo, J.; Ringwald, A.; Tamarit, C. Unifying Inflation with the Axion, Dark Matter, Baryogenesis, and the Seesaw Mechanism. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2017**, *118*, 071802. [CrossRef]
- 27. Borsanyi, S.S.; Dierigl, M.; Fodor, Z.; Katz, S.D.; Mages, S.W.; Nogradi, D.; Redondo, J.; Ringwald, A.; Szabo, K.K. Axion cosmology, lattice QCD and the dilute instanton gas. *Phys. Lett. B* **2016**, *752*, 175–181. [CrossRef]
- Sakharov, A.S.; Sokoloff, D.D.; Khlopov, M.Y. Large scale modulation of the distribution of coherent oscillations of a primordial axion field in the Universe. *Phys. Atom. Nucl.* 1996, 59, 1005–1010.
- 29. Khlopv, M.Y.; Malomed, B.A.; Zeldovich, Y.B. Gravitational instability of scalar fields and formation of primordial black holes. *Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.* **1985**, 215, 575. [CrossRef]
- 30. Kolb, E.W.; Turner, M.S. The Early Universe; Addison-Wesley: Boston, MA, USA, 1990.
- 31. Preskill, J.; Wise, M.; Wilczek, F. Cosmology of the invisible axion. Phys. Lett. B 1983, 120, 127. [CrossRef]
- 32. Abbott, L.; Sikivie, P. A cosmological bound on the invisible axion. Phys. Lett. B 1983, 120, 133. [CrossRef]
- 33. Dine, M.; Fischler, W. The not-so-harmless axion. Phys. Lett. B 1983, 120, 137. [CrossRef]
- 34. Turner, M.S. Cosmic and local mass density of "invisible" axions. Phys. Rev. D 1986, 33, 889. [CrossRef]
- 35. de Vega, H.J.; Sanchez, N.G. Dark Energy is the Cosmological Quantum Vacuum Energy of Light Particles. The axion and the lightest neutrino. *arXiv* 2007, arXiv:0701212.
- 36. Isern, J.; Hernanz, M.; Garcia-Berro, E. Axion Cooling of White Dwarfs. ApJ 1992, 392, L23 [CrossRef]
- 37. Isern, J.; García-Berro, E.; Torres, S.; Catalán, S. Axions and the Cooling of White Dwarf Stars. ApJ 2008, 682, L109. [CrossRef]
- Wang, J.-W.; Bi, X.-J.; Yao, R.-M.; Yin, P.-F. Exploring axion dark matter through radio signals from magnetic white dwarf stars. *Phys. Rev. D* 2021, 103, 115021. [CrossRef]
- 39. Kolb, E.W.; Tkachev, I.I. Axion miniclusters and Bose stars. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1993**, *71*, 3051. [CrossRef]
- 40. Ruffini, R.; Bonazzola, S. Systems of Self-Gravitating Particles in General Relativity and the Concept of an Equation of State. *Phys. Rev.* **1969**, *187*, 1767. [CrossRef]
- 41. Bianchi, M.; Grasso, D.; Ruffini, R. Jeans mass of a cosmological coherent scalar field. Astron. Astrophys. 1990, 231, 301–308.

- 42. Boyanovsky, D.; de Vega, H.J.; Sanchez, N.G. Constraints on dark matter particles from theory, galaxy observations, and N-body simulations. *Phys. Rev. D* 2008, 77, 043518. [CrossRef]
- 43. Hogan, C.J.; Dalcanton, J.J. New dark matter physics: Clues from halo structure. Phys. Rev. D 2000, 62, 063511. [CrossRef]
- 44. Gradshteyn, I.S.; Ryzhik, I.M. Table of Integrals, Series, and Products; Academic Press: San Diego, CA, USA, 1994.
- 45. Shao, S.; Gao, L.; Theuns, T.; Frenk, C.S. The phase-space density of fermionic dark matter haloes. *Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.* **2013**, 430, 2346. [CrossRef]
- 46. Tremaine, S.; Gunn, J.E. Dynamical Role of Light Neutral Leptons in Cosmology. Phys. Rev. Lett. 1979, 42, 407. [CrossRef]
- 47. Lynden-Bell, D. Statistical mechanics of violent relaxation in stellar systems. *Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.* **1967**, *136*, 101. [CrossRef]
- Dalcanton, J.J.; Hogan, C.J. Halo Cores and Phase-Space Densities: Observational Constraints on Dark Matter Physics and Structure Formation. *Astrophys. J.* 2001, 561, 35. [CrossRef]
- Tremaine, S.; Henon, M.; Lynden-Bell, D. H-functions and mixing in violent relaxation. *Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.* 1986, 219, 285. [CrossRef]
- 50. Lapi, A.; Cavaliere, A. Dark Matter Equilibria in Galaxies and Galaxy Systems. ApJ 2009, 692, 174. [CrossRef]
- 51. Madsen, J. Phase space constraints on bosonic and fermionic dark matter. Phys. Rev. Lett. 1990, 64, 2744. [CrossRef]
- 52. Madsen, J. Generalized Tremaine-Gunn limits for bosons and fermions. Phys. Rev. D 1991, 44, 999. [CrossRef]
- 53. Gilmore, G.; Wilkinson, M.I.; Wyse, R.F.G.; Kleyna, J.T.; Koch, A.; Evans, N.W.; Grebel, E.K. The Observed Properties of Dark Matter on Small Spatial Scales. *ApJ* 2007, *663*, 948. [CrossRef]
- 54. Walker, M.; Peñarrubia, J.A. Method for Measuring (Slopes of) the Mass Profiles of Dwarf Spheroidal Galaxies. *ApJ* **2011**, 742, 20. [CrossRef]
- 55. Salucci, P.; Lapi, A.; Tonini, C.; Gentile, G.; Yegorova, I.; Klein, U. The universal rotation curve of spiral galaxies—II. The dark matter distribution out to the virial radius. *Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.* **2007**, *378*, 41. [CrossRef]
- 56. de Vega, H.J.; Salucci, P.; Sanchez, N.G. The mass of the dark matter particle: Theory and galaxy observations. *New Astron.* **2012**, 17, 653. [CrossRef]
- 57. Simon, J.D.; Geha, M. The Kinematics of the Ultra-faint Milky Way Satellites: Solving the Missing Satellite Problem. *ApJ* 2007, 670, 313. [CrossRef]
- 58. Simon, J.D.; Geha, M.; Minor, Q.E.; Martinez, G.D.; Kirby, E.N.; Bullock, J.S.; Kaplinghat, M.; Strigari, L.E.; Willman, B.; Choi, P.I.; et al. A Complete Spectroscopic Survey of the Milky Way Satellite Segue 1: The Darkest Galaxy. *ApJ* **2011**, 733, 46. [CrossRef]
- 59. Wolf, J.; Martinez, G.D.; Bullock, J.S.; Kaplinghat, M.; Geha, M.; Muñoz, R.R.; Simon, J.D.; Avedo, F.F. Accurate masses for dispersion-supported galaxies. *Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.* 2010, 406, 1220. [CrossRef]
- 60. Brodie, J.P.; Romanowsky, A.J.; Strader, J.; Forbes, D.A. The Relationships among Compact Stellar Systems: A Fresh View of Ultracompact Dwarfs. *ApJ* **2011**, *142*, 199. [CrossRef]
- 61. Willman, B.; Strader, J. "Galaxy" Defined. ApJ 2012, 144, 76. [CrossRef]
- Martinez, G.D.; Minor, Q.E.; Bullock, J.; Kaplinghat, M.; Simon, J.D.; Geha, M. A Complete Spectroscopic Survey of the Milky Way Satellite Segue 1: Dark Matter Content, Stellar Membership, and Binary Properties from a Bayesian Analysis. *ApJ* 2011, 738, 55. [CrossRef]
- 63. Gallavotti, G. Statistical Mechanics: A Short Treatise; Springer: Berlin, Germany, 1999.
- 64. de Vega, H.J.; Sanchez, N.G. Constant surface gravity and density profile of dark matter. *Int.J Mod.Phys. A* 2011, 26, 1057. [CrossRef]
- 65. de Vega, H.J.; Sanchez, N.G. Warm Dark Matter Galaxies with central Supermassive Black Holes. Universe 2022, 8, 154. [CrossRef]
- 66. Destri, C.; de Vega, H.J. Ultraviolet cascade in the thermalization of the classical ϕ^4 theory in 3 + 1 dimensions. *Phys. Rev. D* 2006, 73, 025014. [CrossRef]
- 67. Micha, R.; Tkachev, I.I. Turbulent thermalization. Phys. Rev. D 2004, 70, 043538. [CrossRef]
- 68. Aarts, G.; Berges, J. Classical Aspects of Quantum Fields Far from Equilibrium. Phys. Rev. Lett. 2002, 88, 041603. [CrossRef]
- 69. Berges, J.; Jaeckel, J. Far from equilibrium dynamics of Bose-Einstein condensation for axion dark matter. *Phys. Rev.* 2015, *91*, 025020. [CrossRef]
- 70. Davidson, S.; Elmer, M. Bose-Einstein condensation of the classical axion field in cosmology? JCAP 2013, 12, 034. [CrossRef]
- 71. Boyanovsky, D.; Destri, C.; de Vega, H.J. Approach to thermalization in the classical ϕ^4 theory in 1 + 1 dimensions: Energy cascades and universal scaling. *Phys. Rev.* **2004**, *69*, 045003.
- 72. Berges, J.; Sexty, D. Bose-Einstein Condensation in Relativistic Field Theories Far from Equilibrium. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 2012, 108, 161601. [CrossRef]
- 73. Peccei, R.D.; Quinn, H. CP Conservation in the Presence of Pseudoparticles. Phys. Rev. Lett. 1977, 38, 1440. [CrossRef]
- 74. Peccei, R.D.; Quinn, H. Constraints imposed by CP conservation in the presence of pseudoparticles. *Phys. Rev. D* 1977, *16*, 1791. [CrossRef]
- 75. Weinberg, S. A New Light Boson? Phys. Rev. Lett. 1978, 40, 223. [CrossRef]
- 76. Wilczek, F. Problem of Strong P and T Invariance in the Presence of Instantons. Phys. Rev. Lett. 1978, 40, 279. [CrossRef]
- 77. Essig, R.; Jaros, J.A.; Wester, W.; Hansson Adrian, P.; Andreas, S.; Averett, T.; Baker, O.; Batell, B.; Battaglieri, M.; Beacham, J.; et al. Dark Sectors and New, Light, Weakly-Coupled Particles. Report of the Community Summer Study 2013 (Snowmass) Intensity Frontier New, Light, Weakly-Coupled Particles subgroup. *arXiv* 2013, arXiv:1311.0029.
- 78. Gorbunov, D.S.; Rubakov, V.A. Theory of the Early Universe I, Hot Big Bang Theory; World Scientific: Singapore, 2011.

- 79. Co, R.T.; Hall, L.J.; Harigaya, K. QCD Axion Dark Matter with a Small Decay Constant. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2018**, 120, 211602. [CrossRef]
- 80. Harigaya, K.; Leedom, J.M. QCD axion dark matter from a late time phase transition. J. High Energy Phys. 2020, 6, 34. [CrossRef]
- 81. Co, R.T.; Gonzalez, E.; Harigaya, K. Axion misalignment driven to the hilltop. J. High Energy Phys. 2019, 5, 163. [CrossRef]
- 82. Takahashi, F.; Yin, W. QCD axion on hilltop by a phase shift of π . J. High Energy Phys. **2019**, 10, 120. [CrossRef]
- 83. Co, R.T.; Hall, L.J.; Harigaya, K. Axion Kinetic Misalignment Mechanism. Phys. Rev. Lett. 2020, 124, 251802. [CrossRef]